# حكومــة الإنقــاذ الوطنــي " وزارة المواصــلات " مصلحــة الطيـران المدنــي

## قرار رقم ( 168 ) لسنة 2015 ميلادي بشأن / إنشاء نظام إدارة السلامة

## ☀مدير عام مصلحة الطيران المدني ..

- ـ بعد الاطلاع على بيان انتصار ثورة ( 17) فبراير الصادر 22/فبراير/2011 م
- ـ بعد الاطلاع على الإعلان الدستوري الصادر في 3 / أغسطس / 2011 ميلادي .
- ـ وعلى القانون رقـ(4)ـم لسنة 2012 م بشأن انتخاب المؤتمر الوطني العام وتعديلاته .
- ـ وعلى قرار المؤتمر الوطني العام رقـ(**46**)ـم لسنة **2014** ميلادي بشأن منح الثقة لحكومة الإنقاذ الوطني .
  - ـ وعلى القانون رقـ(12)ـم لسنة 2010 ميلادي بشأن علاقات العمل ولائحته التنفيذية .
  - ـ وعلى القانون رقـ(6)ـم لسنة 2005 ميلادي بشأن الطيران المدني ولائحته التنفيذية .
- ـ وعلى قرار أمين اللجنة الشعبية العامة للمواصلات والنقل (سابقاً) رقـ(168) لسنة 2008 م بشأن اعتماد أجزاء القرارات التنفيذية .
  - ـ وعلى قرار السيد / وزير المواصلات رقـ((97))ـم لسنة 2012 ميلادي .
- ـ وعلى قرار معالي وزير المواصلات رقـ((143))ـم لسنة 2012 بشأن التنظيم الداخلي لمصلحة الطيران المدني.
  - ـ وعلى الملحق التاســع عشــر (إدارة السلامـــة) لمعاهدة الطيران المدني الدولي .
- ـ وعلى القرار رقم (1**54**) لسنة **2015** م الصادر عن السيد / وزير المواصلات بشأن التفويض في بعض الاختصاصات .
- ـ وعلى كتاب السيد / مدير مكتب برنامج إدارة السلامة ـ المكلف رقم (م.ط.م/3/48/3/48) المؤرخ في 2015/08/23
  - ـ ولمقتضيات سلامة الطيران المدني والنقل الجوي وفقاً لمتطلبات منظمة الطيران المدني الدولي .
    - ـ وعلـــى مــا تـــم عرضــه ..

#### قــــرر

## مـ((1))ـدة

يعتمد إنشاء نظام إدارة السلامة (Establishment of Safety Management System) المرفق بهذا القرار (( الجزء (19) من التشريعات التنفيذية للقانون رقم (6) لسنة 2005 بشأن الطيران المدني) .

#### مر((2))ادة

يعمل بهذا القرار من تاريخ صدوره وعلى الجهات ذات العلاقة تنفيذه كلاً فيما يخصه ويلغى كل حكم مخالف لأحكامـــــه.

د . يوسف على قصيعة مدير عام المصلحة / المكلف

J ~~~ J

صدر في تاريخ: ال / 11 /2015 ميلادي م وفاء . . . . عبدو15/11/2015

## STATE OF LIBYA

## MINISTIRY OF TRANSPORT

## Libyan Civil Aviation Authority

Libyan Civil Aviation Regulation

Part 19

ESTABLISHMENT OF

SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Director General Order No. (16%)

## **Table of Contents**

SUBPART A3 -
GENERAL PROVISION3 -
19.1 APPLICABILITY.       - 3 -         19.3 DEFINITIONS.       - 4 -         19.5 APPLICATION FOR SMS ACCEPTANCE.       - 6 -         19.7 SMS STRUCTURE.       - 6 -         19.9 PREPARATION OF SMS.       - 6 -         19.11 ACCEPTANCE OF SMS.       - 6 -
SUBPART B7 -
SAFETY POLICY AND OBJECTIVES7 -
19.13 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 7 - 7 - 19.15 ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 8 - 19.17 SMS IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 10 - 19.19 COORDINATION OF THE EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 11 - 19.21 DOCUMENTATION 11 -
SUBPART C 12 -
SAFETY RISK MANAGEMENT 12 -
19.23 GENERAL.       - 12 -         19.25 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION.       - 13 -         19.27 RISK MANAGEMENT.       - 13 -         19.29 INTERNAL SAFETY INVESTIGATIONS.       - 13 -
SUBPART D 14 -
SAFETY ASSURANCE
19.31 GENERAL 14 - 19.33 ACHIEVE THEIR INTENDED OBJECTIVES 14 - 19.35 SAFETY PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND MEASUREMENT 14 - 19.37 MANAGEMENT OF CHANGE 14 - 19.39 CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT OF THE SAFETY SYSTEM 15 - 15 - 15 - 15 - 15 - 15 - 15 - 1
SUBPART E 15 -
SAFETY PROMOTION15
19.41 GENERAL.       - 15 -         19.43 SAFETY TRAINING.       - 15 -         19.45 SAFETY COMMUNICATION.       - 16 -         19.47 QUALITY POLICY.       - 16 -
SUBPART F16
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SMS16
19.49 Phases of the SMS Implementation -15.

#### SUBPART A

#### General Provision

## 19.1 Applicability.

- a) This Part prescribes the requirements for establishing a Safety Management System for operators and /or service providers, these are:-
  - Operators of aeroplanes or helicopters authorized to conduct commercial air transport;
  - 2) Approved maintenance organizations;
  - 3) Approved training organizations;
  - 4) Organizations responsible for the type design or manufacture of aircraft;
  - 5) Air traffic services provider
  - 6) Operators of certified aerodromes;
- b) Operators and/or service providers shall establish, maintain, and adhere to a safety management system (SMS) that is appropriate to the size, nature and complexity of the operations authorized to be conduct under its operations certificate and the safety hazards and risks related to the operations.
- c) This part addresses the formal and systematic approach to aviation safety and its related processes and activities rather than occupational safety,
- d) Environmental protection or customer service quality.
- e) The operator and/or service provider is responsible for the safety of services, sub-contracted services, products contracted and purchased from other organizations.
- f) This part establishes the minimum acceptable requirements; the operator and/or service provider can establish more strict requirements.

#### 19.3 Definitions.

When the following terms are used in the Standards and Recommended Practices for Safety Management, they have the following meanings:

Accident An occurrence associated with the operation of an aircraft which, in the case of a manned aircraft, takes place between the time any person boards the aircraft with the intention of flight until such time as all such persons have disembarked, or in the case of an unmanned aircraft, takes place between the time the aircraft is ready to move with the purpose of flight until such time as it comes to rest at the end of the flight and the primary propulsion system is shut down, in which:

- a) a person is fatally or seriously injured as a result of:
  - 1) Being in the aircraft, or
  - 2) Direct contact with any part of the aircraft, including parts which have become detached from the aircraft, or
  - 3) Direct exposure to jet blast,
    Except when the injuries are from natural causes,
    self-inflicted or inflicted by other persons, or when
    the injuries are to stowaways hiding outside the areas
    normally available to the passengers and crew; or
- b) The aircraft sustains damage or structural failure which:
  - 1) Adversely affects the structural strength, performance or flight characteristics of the aircraft, and
  - 2) Would normally require major repair or replacement of the affected component, except for engine failure or damage, when the damage is limited to a single engine, (including its cowlings or accessories), to propellers, wing tips, antennas, probes, vanes, tires, brakes, wheels, fairings, panels, landing gear doors, windscreens, the aircraft skin (such as small dents or puncture holes), or for minor damages to main rotor blades, tail rotor blades, landing gear, and those resulting from hail or bird strike (including holes in the Radom); or

- c) The aircraft is missing or is completely inaccessible.
  - Note 1. For statistical uniformity only, an injury resulting in death within thirty days of the date of the accident is classified, by ICAO, as a fatal injury.
  - Note 2. An aircraft is considered to be missing when the official search has been terminated and the wreckage has not been located.
  - Note 3. The type of unmanned aircraft system to be investigated is addressed in 5.1 of Annex 13.
  - Note 4. Guidance for the determination of aircraft damage can be found in Attachment F of Annex 13.
- Aeroplane. A power-driven heavier-than-air aircraft, deriving its lift in flight chiefly from aerodynamic reactions on surfaces, which remain, fixed under given conditions of flight.
- Aircraft. Any machine that can derive support in the atmosphere from the reactions of the air other than the reactions of the air against the earth's surface.
- **Helicopter.** A heavier-than-air aircraft supported in flight chiefly by the reactions of the air on one or more power-driven rotors on substantially vertical axes.
- Incident. An occurrence, other than an accident, associated
   with the operation of an Aircraft
- State of the Operator. The State in which the operator's principal place of business is located or, if there is no such place of business, the operator's permanent residence.
- State Safety Program (SSP). An integrated set of regulations and activities aimed at improving safety in Libya.

## 19.5 Application for SMS Acceptance.

The applicant, for the acceptance of SMS shall supplement his formal application, in a form and manner established by the LYCAA and by at least, the following information:-

- a) Name of the Accountable Manager and the assigned Safety Management post holder.
- b) A proposed Implementation Plan with emphasis on timelines.
- c) A draft of the SMS Manual.

#### 19.7 SMS structure.

The structure of the SMS shall contain the requirements established in Subpart B through Subpart E.

## 19.9 Preparation of SMS.

Safety Management System Manual required by this part shall:

- a) Be typewritten and signed by the operator and/or service provider;
- b) Be in a form that is easy to revise;
- c) Has the effective date and issuance status (original / amendment number on each page).
- d) Has revision history sheet showing issue number, amendment number and it is effective date; and
- e) Be organized in a manner helpful to the preparation, review, and acceptance processes.

## 19.11 Acceptance of SMS.

- a) Each operator and/or service provider as defined in 19.1(a) shall have in place a safety management system (SMS) that is acceptable to Libyan Civil Aviation Authority, that, as a minimum:
  - 1) Identifies safety hazards;
  - 2) Ensures that remedial action necessary to maintain an acceptable level of safety implemented. The acceptable level of safety shall be subject to LYCAA approvals.
  - 3) Provides for continuous monitoring and regular assessment of the safety level achieved; and
  - 4) Aims to make continuous improvement to the overall level of safety.

b) In order to be acceptable to LYCAA, operator and /or service provider SMS shall meet the requirements set forth in this part, specifically, in Subpart B through Subpart E.

#### SUBPART B

## Safety policy and objectives

## 19.13 General requirements.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall define the organization's safety policy.
- b) The safety policy shall be sign up by the Accountable Executive of the organization.
- c) The safety policy shall be in accordance with national, international, and organizational standards, and reflect organizational commitments regarding safety.
- d) The safety policy shall be communicate it, with visible endorsement, throughout the organization.
- e) The safety policy shall include a clear statement about the provision of the necessary human and financial resources for its implementation.
- f) The safety policy shall, inter-alia, include the following objectives:
  - 1) Commitment to implement an SMS;
  - 2) Commitment to continual improvement in the level of safety;
  - 3) Commitment to the management of safety risks;
  - 4) Commitment to encourage employees to report safety issues;
  - 5) Establishment of clear standards for acceptable behavior; and
  - 6) Identification of responsibilities of management and employees with respect to safety performance.
- g) The safety policy shall reviewed periodically to ensure it remains relevant and appropriate to the organization.

- h) An operator and/or service provider shall establish safety objectives for the SMS.
- i) The safety objectives should be linked to the safety performance indicators, safety performance targets, and safety requirements of the operator and/or service provider SMS.

## 19.15 Organizational structure and responsibilities.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall identify an Accountable Executive to be responsible and accountable on behalf of the operator and/or service provider for meeting the requirements of this part, and shall notify the LYCAA the name of the person.
- b) The Accountable Executive shall be a single, identifiable person who, irrespective of other functions, shall have the ultimate responsibility for the implementation and maintenance of the SMS.
- c) The Accountable Executive shall have:
  - Full control of the human resources required for the operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
  - 2) Full control of the financial resources required for the operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
  - 3) Final authority over operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
  - 4) Direct responsibility for the conduct of the organization's affairs; and final responsibility for all safety issues.
- d) An operator and or/a service provider shall establish the safety structure necessary for the implementation and maintenance of the organization's SMS.
- e) An operator and or/a service provider shall identify the safety responsibilities of all members of senior management, irrespective of other responsibilities.
- f) Safety-related positions, responsibilities, and authorities shall defined, documented, and communicated throughout the organization.

- g) An Operator and/or service provider shall identify a Safety Manager to be a member of management who shall be the responsible individual and focal point for the implementation and maintenance of an effective SMS.
- h) The Safety Manager shall:
  - Ensure that processes needed for the SMS are established, implemented and maintained;
  - 2) Report to the Accountable Executive on the performance of the SMS and on any need for improvement; and
  - 3) Ensure safety promotion throughout the organization:
    - i. To serve as Safety Manager under this Part, the following suggested attributes and qualification are required but not limited to:
      - 1) Proven competence in the area of operation (technical area or specific job area e.g. flight dispatch) within any aviation organization (at least 10 years) to understand the systems that support operations.
      - 2) Operational management experience at supervisory level (at least 3 years).
      - 3) Sound knowledge of safety management principles and practices, through training, refresher training, and experience.
      - 4) The completion of a recognized safety management course/s that meets the minimum requirements
      - 5) Good written and verbal communication skills;
      - 6) Well-developed interpersonal skills;
      - 7) Computer literacy;
      - 8) The ability to relate to all levels, both inside and outside the organization;
      - 9) Organizational ability;
      - 10) Capable of working unsupervised;
      - 11) Good analytical skills;

- 12) Leadership skills and an authoritative approach; and
- 13) Worthy of respect among peers, and management.

## 19.17 SMS implementation plan.

- a) An Operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain an SMS implementation plan.
- b) The SMS implementation plan shall be the definition of the approach the organization will adopt for managing safety in a manner that will meet the organization's safety needs.
- c) The SMS implementation plan shall include the following:
  - 1) Safety policy and objectives;
  - 2) Safety roles and responsibilities;
  - 3) System description;
  - 4) Gap analysis;
  - 5) SMS components;
  - 6) Safety performance measurement;
  - 7) Safety reporting policy;
  - 8) Safety communication;
  - 9) Means of employee involvement; and
  - 10) Management review of safety performance.
- d) The SMS implementation plan shall endorsed by Accountable Executive of the organization.
- e) A service provider shall be as part of the development of the SMS implementation plan, complete a system description.
- f) The system description shall include the following:-
  - 1) The system interactions with other systems in the air transportation system;
  - 2) The system functions;
  - 3) Required Human Factors considerations of the system operation;
  - 4) Hardware components of the system;

- 5) Software components of the system;
- 6) Related procedures that define guidance for the operation and use of the system;
- 7) Operational environment; and
- 8) Contracted and purchased products and services.
- g) An operator and /or service provider shall, as part of the development of the SMS implementation plan, complete a gap analysis, in order to:-
  - 1) Identify the safety arrangements existing within the organization; and
  - 2) Determine additional safety arrangements required to implement and maintain the organization's SMS.

## 19.19 Coordination of the emergency response plan.

- a) An operator and /or service provider shall develop and maintain, or coordinate, as appropriate, an Emergency Response Plan (ERP) that shall ensure:
  - Orderly and efficient transition from normal to emergency operations;
  - 2) Designation of emergency entities;
  - 3) Assignment of emergency responsibilities;
  - 4) Coordination of efforts to cope with the emergency; and
  - 5) Safe continuation of operations, or return to normal operations as soon as possible.

#### 19.21 Documentation.

- a) An operator and /or service provider shall develop and maintain SMS documentation, in paper or electronic form, to describe the following:
  - 1) Safety policy;
  - 2) Safety objectives;
  - 3) SMS requirements, procedures and processes;
  - 4) Responsibilities and authorities for procedures and processes; and
  - 5) SMS outputs.

- b) An operator and /or service provider shall, as part of the SMS documentation, develop and maintain a safety management manual (SMM), to communicate the organization's approach to safety throughout the organization.
- c) The SMM shall document all aspects of the SMS, and its contents shall include the following:-
  - 1) Scope of the safety management system;
  - 2) Safety policy and objectives;
  - 3) Safety accountabilities;
  - 4) Key safety personnel;
  - 5) Documentation control procedures;
  - 6) Emergency response planning;
  - 7) Hazard identification and risk management schemes;
  - 8) Safety performance monitoring;
  - 9) Management of change;
  - 10) Safety auditing; and
  - 11) Safety promotion.

The certificate holder shall submit Safety Management System (SMS) Manual to LYCAA for acceptance according to the requirements of this Part.

## SUBPART C

## Safety risk management.

#### 19.23 General.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain **Safety Data Collection and Processing Systems** (SDCPS) that provide for the identification of hazards and the analysis and assessment of risks.
- b) An operators and/or service providers (SDCPS) shall include reactive, proactive, and predictive methods of hazard identification and safety data collection.

#### 19.25 Hazard identification.

- a) An Operator /and or service provider shall develop and maintain formal means of collecting, recording, acting on and generating feedback about hazards in operations, which combine reactive, proactive and predictive methods of safety data collection.
- b) The hazard identification process shall include the following steps:
  - 1) Reporting of hazards, events or safety concerns;
  - 2) Collection and storing the safety data;
  - 3) Analysis of the safety data; and
  - 4) Distribution of the safety information extracted from the safety data.

## 19.27 Risk management.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain a formal risk assessment and mitigation process that ensures the elimination and/or mitigation of risks to an acceptable level.
- b) The risks in each hazard identified through the hazard identification processes described in 19.25 of this part shall be analyze it in terms of **probability** and **severity** of occurrence, and assessed for their tolerability.
- c) The organization shall define the levels of management with authority to make risk safety tolerability decisions.
- d) The organization shall define safety control for each risk assessed as intolerable.

### 19.29 Internal safety investigations.

a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS, develop and maintain formal processes for the internal investigation of occurrences that not required to be investigate it by the Libyan Civil Aviation Authority.

#### SUBPART D

## Safety assurance

#### 19.31 General.

a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain safety assurance processes to ensure that the safety risks controls developed as a consequence of the hazard identification and risk management activities under paragraph

## 19.33 achieve their intended objectives.

a) Safety assurance processes shall apply to an SMS whether the activities and/or operations are accomplished internally or outsourced.

## 19.35 Safety performance monitoring and measurement.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain the necessary means to verify safety performance of the organization in comparison with the approved safety policies and objectives, and to validate the effectiveness of implemented safety risk controls.
- b) Safety performance monitoring and measurement means shall include the following:
  - 1) Safety reporting;
  - 2) Safety audits;
  - 3) Safety surveys.
  - 4) Safety reviews;
  - 5) Internal safety investigations.
- c) The safety reporting procedure shall set out the conditions under which exception from punitive action would be contemplate.

### 19.37 Management of change.

a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain a formal process for the management of change.

- b) The formal process for the management of change shall:-
  - 1) Identify changes within the organization which may affect established processes and services;
  - 2) Describe the arrangements to ensure safety performance before implementing changes; and
  - 3) Eliminate or modify safety risk controls that no longer needed due to changes in the operational environment.

## 19.39 Continuous improvement of the safety system.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain formal processes to identify the causes of under-performance of the SMS, determine the implications in its operation, and eliminate such causes, in order to ensure the continual improvement of the SMS.
- b) Continuous improvement of the operator and/or service provider SMS shall include:
  - Proactive and reactive evaluations of facilities, equipment, documentation and procedures, to verify the effectiveness of strategies for control of safety risks; and
  - 2) Proactive evaluation of the individuals' performance, to verify the fulfillment of safety responsibilities.

#### SUBPART E

## Safety Promotion

#### 19.41 General.

Operators and/or Service providers shall develop and maintain formal safety training and safety communication activities to create an environment where the safety objectives of the organization can be achieved.

### 19.43 Safety training.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of its safety promotion activities, develop and maintain safety-training programme that ensures that personnel are trained and competent to perform the SMS duties.
- b) The scope of the safety training shall be appropriate to the individual's involvement in the SMS.

- c) The Accountable Executive shall receive safety awareness training regarding:
  - 1) SMS roles and responsibilities;
  - 2) Safety policy;
  - 3) SMS objectives; and
  - 4) Safety assurance.

## 19.45 Safety communication.

- a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of its safety promotion activities, develop and maintain formal means for safety communication, to:-
  - 1) Ensure that all staff is fully aware of the SMS;
  - 2) Convey safety critical information;
  - 3) Explain why particular safety actions are taken; and
  - 4) Explain why safety procedures are introduce or changed.
- b) Formal means of safety communication shall include:
  - 1) Safety policies and procedures;
  - 2) Newsletters; and
  - 3) Bulletins.

## 19.47 Quality policy.

An operator and/or service provider shall ensure that the organization quality policy is consistent with, and supports the fulfillment of the activities of the SMS.

#### SUBPART F

## Implementation of the SMS

## 19.49 Phases of the SMS Implementation.

- a) This part proposes, but does not mandate, a phased implementation of an operator and/or service provider SMS, which covers four phases as described in paragraph (b) through paragraph (e) hereunder.
- b) Phase (1) provides a blueprint on how the SMS requirements will be met and integrated to the organization's work activities, and an accountability framework for the implementation of the SMS:-
  - Identify the Accountable Executive and the safety accountabilities of managers;
  - 2) Identify the person (or planning group) within the organization responsible for implementing the SMS;

- 3) Describe the system (Air operator, ATC services provider, approved maintenance organization, Training Organization, certified aerodrome operator);
- 4) Conduct a gap analysis of the organization's existing resources compared with the national and international requirements for establishing a SMS;
- 5) Develop an SMS implementation plan that explains how the organization will implement the SMS on the basis of national requirements and international Standards and Recommended Practices (SARPs), the system description and the results of the gap analysis;
- 6) Develop documentation relevant to safety policy and objectives; and
- 7) Develop and establish means for safety communication.
- c) Phase (2) puts into practice those elements of the SMS implementation plan that refer to the safety risk management reactive processes:
  - 1) Investigation and analysis;
  - 2) Hazard identification and risk management; and
  - 3) Training relevant to:
    - i. SMS implementation plan components; and
    - ii. Safety risk management (reactive processes).
  - 4) Documentation relevant to:
    - i. SMS implementation plan components; and
    - ii. Safety risk management (reactive processes).
- d) Phase (3) puts into practice those elements of the SMS implementation plan that refer to safety risk management, proactive processes:
  - 1) Investigation and analysis;
  - 2) Hazard identification and risk management; and
  - 3) Training relevant to:
    - i. SMS implementation plan components; and
    - ii. Safety risk management (proactive processes).

## **Establishment Of Safety Management System**

- 4) Documentation relevant to:
  - i. SMS implementation plan components; and
  - ii. Safety risk management (proactive processes).
- e) Phase (4) puts into practice operational safety assurance:
  - 1) Development of acceptable level(s) of safety;
  - 2) Development of safety indicators and targets;
  - 3) SMS continuous improvement;
  - 4) Training relevant to operational safety assurance; and
  - 5) Documentation relevant to operational safety assurance.